
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA

Triangle Warehouse, Inc. a Minnesota 
corporation, Benchmark Logistics, LLC, a 
Minnesota limited liability company, and 
Cue Properties, LLC, a Minnesota limited 
liability company, 

Plaintiffs, 
v. 

City of Minneapolis, a Minnesota city, and  
Hennepin County, 

Defendants. 

COURT FILE NO. ______________

COMPLAINT 

Jury Trial Requested 

Plaintiffs Triangle Warehouse, Inc., Benchmark Logistics, LLC, and Cue 

Properties, LLC, as and for their Complaint against Defendants the City of Minneapolis 

(“City”) and Hennepin County (“County”), states and alleges as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. Plaintiffs in this action are businesses with facilities located near 37th Avenue 

Northeast and Technology Drive in Northeast Minneapolis. Over the past several months 

the area has descended into lawlessness. Vehicles, including semi-tractor trailers, campers, 

recreational vehicles, personal watercraft, trucks and automobiles, have been permanently 

parked on Technology Drive between 36th and 37th Avenues and are being used as mobile 

residences. Other individuals appear to be living in makeshift encampments.  

2. Those apparently living on Technology Drive, or others acting in concert 

with them, have been involved in the following nuisances and public safety hazards that 

have significantly impacted the ability of nearby businesses including Plaintiffs’ businesses 
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to safely and effectively operate and have significantly reduced the value of the property 

surrounding the area, including: 

i. Open fire pits containing burning garbage; 

ii. Refuse strewn upon the roadway and adjoining properties; 

iii. Refuse left in the pay-by-weight dumpsters of area businesses; 

iv. Trespass by encampment residents onto the property of nearby businesses, 
including trespass into business vehicles and other facilities; 

v. Encampment residents using extension cords to steal electricity from area 
businesses; 

vi. Obstructing the flow of traffic on area roadways; 

vii. Preventing ingress and egress from and to adjoining properties; 

viii. Intimidating and harassing employees and contractors from entering or 
leaving area businesses;  

ix. Vehicles and other materials left in no parking zones, in front of fire 
hydrants creating a fire hazard, and blocking access to driveways. 

3. Not only has the City and County failed to take affirmative steps to 

ameliorate these dangerous and disruptive conditions, both Defendants have actively 

encouraged the continuing existence of the encampments. 

4. Indeed, the City and/or County have gone so far as to set up facilities to 

accommodate the encampments such as installing restroom facilities and wash stations. 

5. In effect, the City and County have turned the area around 37th Avenue North 

East and Technology Drive into makeshift accommodations for persons experiencing 

homelessness, or for anyone who chooses to live in the area. The makeshift encampment 

zone sanctioned by the City and County is causing an increase in crime and reducing the 
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value of surrounding properties and is damaging surrounding businesses, including 

Plaintiffs.    

6. Through a series of regulatory decisions (as implemented by their actions 

and failure to act) the City and County have affected unconstitutional regulatory takings 

without compensation in violation of the Plaintiffs’ rights under the Fifth Amendment.  

PARTIES, JURISDICTION, AND VENUE 

7. Plaintiff Cue Properties, LLC (“Cue”) is a Minnesota limited liability 

corporation with its principal place of business at 3501 Marshall St. NE, Minneapolis, MN 

55418. 

8. Cue is the owner of the property known municipally as 3501 Marshall St. 

NE, Minneapolis, MN 55418 (Property Id. No. 03-029-24-13-0014) (the “Property”).  

9. Plaintiff Triangle Warehouse, Inc., (“Triangle”) is a Minnesota corporation 

with its principal place of business at 3501 Marshall St. NE, Minneapolis, MN 55418. 

Triangle is a tenant of Cue. Triangle operates a 500,000 square foot warehouse in and 

around the Property that includes facilities for food grade refrigerated storage, food grade 

frozen storage, food grade dry storage, and other commercial and industrial dry storage 

solutions. Triangle’s facilities include 50 dock doors and 4 rail doors to facilitate access to 

the adjacent BNSF railyard.   

10. Plaintiff Benchmark Logistics, LLC (“Benchmark”) is a Minnesota limited 

liability corporation with its principle place of business at 3501 Marshall St. NE, 

Minneapolis, MN 55418. Benchmark is a tenant of Cue. Benchmark operates a fleet of 

commercial transport vehicles from the Property, including tandem axle tractors, single 
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axle tractors, dock trucks, flatbed trucks, low clearance trucks, cube vans, and other 

outsourced transportation solutions. Benchmark also operates a vehicle maintenance 

facility from the Property. 

11. Cue, Triangle and Benchmark are related and closely held companies.   

12. Defendant the City of Minneapolis is a Minnesota city and municipal 

corporation. 

13. Defendant Hennepin County is a Minnesota County, and political 

subdivision of the state of Minnesota.

14. This Court has original jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1331 because this is a civil action arising under the Constitution and laws of the United 

States, including U.S. Const. amend V and 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

15. Venue is proper in this district because the Property is located within the 

district and all defendants are entities with the capacity to sue and be sued, which are 

deemed to reside within the district under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(c)(2).  

FACTS 

16. In the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic that began in early 2020 and social 

unrest following the murder of George Floyd in May of 2020, both homelessness and crime 

increased significantly in the Twin Cities Metro Area. 

17. In the area of Technology Drive, between 36th and 37th Avenues in 

Minneapolis’ northeast, an encampment has been growing in size for over a year (the 

“Encampment”).  
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18. The City and County have not only failed to remove the Encampment, they 

have acquiesced to its presence.  

19. The City and County have in effect determined to convert the area 

surrounding Technology Drive, between 36th and 37th Avenues into makeshift 

accommodations for persons that are unhoused. 

20. Instead of directing their resources at establishing appropriate public housing 

capacity and accommodation, including homeless shelters and alternate accommodations 

for the unhoused, the City and County have instead directed resources to support and 

maintain the Encampment, thereby encouraging and contributing to its growth.  

21. By facilitating growth of the Encampment without taking adequate 

safeguards to monitor and police the area, the City and County have created a public health 

and public safety hazard that has significantly reduced the value of surrounding land 

including the Property and that has directly impacted the ability of the surrounding 

landowners and leaseholders to use their property.  

22. The City and/or County are treating the Encampment as a de facto outdoor 

shelter facility, the City is even providing “hygiene and trash collection support” to the 

Encampment.1

23. Encampment residents are trespassing onto local business and vandalizing 

buildings, littering, and stealing electricity by plugging into buildings’ external power 

outlets. 

1 https://www2.minneapolismn.gov/government/programs-initiatives/homes-development 
-assistance/homelessness-initiative/, accessed Jul. 27, 2021.
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24. Encampment residents are treating private property in the area, including the 

Property, as an extension of the Encampment. By supporting the Encampment without 

devoting any resources to policing its boundaries the City and County are responsible for 

the Encampment’s expansion onto private property. 

25. Encampment residents are also harassing the employees of local businesses, 

including Plaintiffs’ employees. 

26. From May 21, 2021 to June 21, 2021, alone, there were 15 separate incidents 

on Technology Drive where police were called because of the Encampment.  

27. On May 30, 2021 law enforcement were called to curtail narcotics activity.  

28. On May 31, 2021 law enforcement were called to address multiple persons 

exhibiting symptoms of mental health challenges causing disturbances.  

29. On May 4, 2021 law enforcement were called to assist in a domestic assault 

incident. Police reports confirm that a 22-year-old was strangled and physically assaulted. 

Emergency Medical Services (“EMS”) was called for the victim.  

30. On May 5, 2021 law enforcement were called when a trespasser engaged in 

a health hazard by starting a fire in the Encampment.  

31. On May 9, 2021 law enforcement were called upon to curtail narcotics 

activity.  

32. On May 9, 2021, approximately two hours later, law enforcement were called 

to assist with a stabbing. Three victims (ages 45-55) were stabbed, with two of them 

sustaining serious injuries. Additionally, one victim was strangled. EMS was needed.  
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33. On May 17, 2021 law enforcement were called upon to curtail narcotics 

activity at the Encampment. 

34. On numerous occasions over the course of the last several months residents 

of the Encampments have harassed truck drivers and other employees of Plaintiffs as they 

were attempting to enter or exit Plaintiffs’ properties.  

35. Several customers of Triangle Warehouse have demanded that their goods 

be moved out of Plaintiffs’ facilities located in the area of the Encampment. As a result, 

Plaintiffs have suffered significant financial losses. 

36. Employees and contractors of Plaintiffs have been unable to report for work 

on numerous occasions or have been unwilling to do so out of a genuine fear for their 

personal safety.  

37. Encampment residents are treating surrounding private land, including 

Plaintiffs’ property, as an extension of the Encampment thereby constituting an ongoing 

trespass.  

38. By allowing and facilitating the Encampment, the City and County have, for 

a public purpose, fundamentally altered the character of the area around Technology Drive, 

between 36th and 37th Avenues, depressing land values and interfering with use of private 

land in the area.

39. Growth of the Encampment is seriously eroding the ability of Plaintiffs to 

put the Property to an economically beneficial use.
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COUNT ONE – FIFTH AMENDMENT VIOLATION 
(UNLAWFUL TAKING OF PRIVATE PROPERTY FOR PUBLIC USE 

WITHOUT JUST COMPENSATION) 
UNDER 42 U.S.C. § 1983 

40. Plaintiffs incorporate all other paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully stated 

herein. 

41. By converting the area around 36th and 37th Avenues in Minneapolis’ 

northeast, including parts of surrounding private property, into a government-sanctioned 

homeless encampment (or by sanctioning the Encampment and facilitating its growth) the 

City and County have affected a regulatory taking of the Property without paying any 

compensation. 

42. By engaging in a regulatory program that sanctions and facilitates the 

Encampment and by failing to adequately monitor and police the area around the 

Encampment to prevent the known and substantial risk of trespass, nuisance, and other 

damage to property emanating from the Encampment, the City and County have affected 

a regulatory taking of the Property without paying any compensation.  

43. By sanctioning the Encampment residents’ use of private property, including 

the Property, as an extension of the Encampment, the City and County have affected a 

regulatory taking of the Property without paying any compensation. 

44. Plaintiffs have suffered and will continue to suffer damages in an amount to 

be determined at trial until the Encampment is dismantled or until the City and County take 

adequate measures to ensure that the safety and peacefulness of the area is restored and 

maintained.  
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45. As a direct result of the aforementioned, the value of Cue’s Property and 

Plaintiffs’ businesses have been reduced in an amount to be determined at trial. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs demand judgment against Defendants the City of 

Minneapolis and Hennepin County as follows:  

1. An award to Plaintiffs for damages in excess of $50,000 suffered as a 
consequence of the City’s and County’s unlawful taking and violation of the 
United States Constitution;  

2. An award to Plaintiffs for their attorneys’ fees pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988, 
costs, and disbursements;  

3. Such other and further relief as the Court deems just and equitable. 

MOSS & BARNETT 
A Professional Association

Dated:  October 18, 2021 By:  /s/ Matthew P. Kostolnik 
Matthew P. Kostolnik (#0310669) 
Aaron P. Minster (#0399342) 

150 South Fifth Street, Suite 1200 
Minneapolis, MN  55402 
Telephone: (612) 877-5000 
E-mail: matt.kostolnik@lawmoss.com  

aaron.minster@lawmoss.com 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs  

7070066v3
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